
  
Legislation Review Committee 

Correspondence received in response 
to the Legislation Review Committee 
Digest No. 40 – 22 March 2022 

 

 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Letter from the Hon. Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Enterprise, Investment and Trade, Minister for 
Tourism and Sport, and Minister for Western Sydney, responding to the Committee's comments 
regarding the Major Events Amendment Bill 2022 and Motor Sports Bill 2022 in Digest 40/57 - 29 
March 2022 ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Letter from the Hon. James Griffin MP, Minister for Environment and Heritage, responding to the 
Committee's comments regarding the Pesticides Amendment Regulation 2021 in Digest 40/57 - 11 
May 2022 ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

Letter from the Hon. Anthony Roberts MP, Minister for Planning, and Minister for Homes, 
responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Amendment (Housing) Regulation 2021 in Digest 40/57 - 12 May 2022 ........................................... 6 

Letter from the Hon. Gabrielle Upton MP, Parliamentary Secretary to the Premier, on behalf of the 
Hon. Dominic Perrottet MP, Premier, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the 
Electoral Amendment (COVID-19) Regulation 2021 and Electoral Amendment (COVID-19) 
Regulation 2022 in Digest 40/57 - 30 May 2022 ................................................................................ 7 

Letter from the Hon. Matt Kean MP, Treasurer, and Minister for Energy, responding to the 
Committee's comments regarding the Electricity Supply Amendment (Renewable Fuel Scheme) 
Regulation 2021 in Digest 40/57 - 10 August 2022 ............................................................................ 9 

 

 



1



2



3



4



5



6



Ref: A5358660 

Mr Dave Layzell MP 
Chair 
Legislation Review Committee 
Parliament of NSW 
Macquarie Street 
SYDNEY NSW 2000 

By email: legislation.review@parliament.nsw.gov.au 

Dear Mr Layzell 

I refer to your correspondence to the Premier dated 23 March 2022 concerning the Legislation 
Review Committee Digest No. 40/57, which considered the Electoral Amendment (COVID-19) 
Regulation 2021 (COVID Regulation 2021) and the Electoral Amendment (COVID-19) Regulation 
2022 (COVID Regulation 2022). The Premier has asked me to respond on his behalf.  

Regulations which vary the operation of an Act 

I note the Committee’s preference that amendments to an Act be made by an amending Bill rather 
than by subordinate legislation. The COVID Regulation 2021, which was made under section 274 
of the Electoral Act 2017 (Electoral Act), made changes to the Electoral Regulation 2018 which 
vary the operation of certain provisions in the Electoral Act in relation to postal voting at by-
elections.  The COVID Regulation 2022 was similarly made under s274 of the Electoral Act and 
made changes to allow certain “COVID-19 affected electors” (as declared by the Electoral 
Commissioner) to vote by post in a by-election, despite eligibility requirements in the Electoral Act. 

Section 274 was introduced in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to avoid by-elections failing or 
voters being disenfranchised due to inflexible requirements in the Electoral Act not accommodating 
uncertain COVID-19 impacts. 

I am advised that a regulation made under section 274 of the Electoral Act: 

• Is time limited – a regulation made under section 274 automatically repeals on 30 June 2022

• Can only be made for limited purposes - responding to the public health emergency caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic

• Can only be made in limited circumstances – for by-elections held during the pandemic where
the Electoral Commissioner has recommended the regulation and it is reasonable to protect the
health, safety and welfare of persons from the risk of harm caused by COVID-19

• Cannot be made for purposes prescribed at section 274(6) of the Electoral Act – for example,
to restrict or prevent a person from displaying a poster or handing out tangible electoral
material in accordance with the Electoral Act

• Is subject to a tabling precondition – a regulation can only be made after the Electoral
Commissioner’s advice, and any advice obtained by the Minister from the Chief Health Officer
in relation to the making of the regulation, has been tabled in Parliament.
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Electoral Commissioner’s power to declare COVID-19 affected electors 

The COVID Regulation 2022 inserts Schedule 2 into the Electoral Regulation 2018, which enables 
the Electoral Commissioner to, in limited circumstances, declare electors of a specified electoral 
district to be “COVID-19 affected electors” for a by-election. The declaration (which must be 
published on the Electoral Commission’s website) entitles COVID-19 affected electors to vote by 
post in the by-election, despite eligibility requirements in the Electoral Act. 

In its report the Committee acknowledged that, in the extraordinary circumstances created by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the declaration-making power of the Commissioner may facilitate the safe 
and flexible conduct of parliamentary by-elections in a timely and responsive manner during the 
public health emergency. However, the Committee also noted its preference for such declarations 
to be made by subordinate legislation to foster greater parliamentary oversight.  

The Electoral Commissioner’s declaration power at clause 2 of Schedule 2 to the Electoral 
Regulation 2018 was introduced on the advice of the NSW Electoral Commissioner to protect the 
health, safety and welfare of persons from risk of harm caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. This 
advice was tabled in Parliament before the making of the COVID Regulation 2022. As noted in the 
Commissioner’s advice, the declaration power is consistent with an equivalent power at clause 
314A of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 which has not been disallowed by 
Parliament.   

I am advised that the flexibility of identifying affected areas by declaration rather than a regulation 
was required due to the constantly changing circumstances of the pandemic and the need for the 
Electoral Commission to explore the feasibility of providing postal packs to every elector in the 
relevant districts before identifying electors as COVID-19 affected. The Electoral Commissioner’s 
declaration power is time limited and will automatically repeal on 30 June 2022.   
The Government will take into account the Committee’s comments if considering any future 
proposals for regulations to be made under section 274 of the Electoral Act. 

Yours sincerely 

Gabrielle Upton MP 
Parliamentary Secretary to the Premier 

CC: Hon Mark Speakman SC MP, Attorney General 
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The Government notes the Committee's comment that the amendment to the Electricity Supply Act
1995 to provide compliance officers with broad powers to enter private property without a warrant 
when investigating compliance in relation to the energy security safeguard scheme. The 
Government considers the impacts of the powers of entry in the Regulation on an individual's right 
to privacy and property to be proportionate to the level of compliance risk for the scheme. 

The Scheme Regulator requires the power to inspect premises and gather evidence as part of its 
responsibility to detect nor:i-compliance. Without these powers, it would be nearly impossible to 
investigate cases where it appears that Accredited Certificate Providers (ACPs) under the scheme 
have claimed certificates for green hydrogen production fraudulently or beyond their entitlement. 
There have been comparable instances within the ESS where the scheme administrator was 
unable to take effective compliance action. 

With no explicit power to enter premises and conduct inspections it would not be possible for the 
Scheme Administrator to identify breaches of Renewable Fuel Scheme (RFS) requirements. 
Compliance officer actions are limited by requirements in the Regulation and the common law to 
act reasonably in the execution of their duties. The Government considers the proposed powers of 
entry in the Bill are proportionate to regulatory risk for the effective operation of the RFS. 

The Government notes the Committee's comment that potential extraterritorial effects may arise in 
ensuring compliance of the RFS due to the inclusion of approved corresponding schemes in the 
RFS. References to approved corresponding schemes in the Regulation are limited to the creation, 
registration and surrender of certificates within the RFS and do not include the use of powers by 
compliance officers. 

Compliance for approved corresponding schemes is covered in Clause 171 (2) which states that 
the Minister may only approve a corresponding scheme from another jurisdiction if the Minister is 
satisfied of specific conditions, including that the monitoring and enforcement of compliance with 
the corresponding scheme in question is no less stringent than the RFS. The Government is 
satisfied these provisions negate any risk of extraterritorial operation of the RFS. 

The Committee also made a comment that the Regulation provides broad information sharing 
powers to the Scheme Administrator, Scheme Regulator and relevant agencies. Identified non­
compliance with other regulatory frameworks must be brought to the attention of the regulator so 
that compliance risk can be appropriately assessed and acted on. The Government considers the 
information sharing provisions of the Regulation are appropriate as part of an effective compliance 
framework, which is essential to maintaining public confidence in the RFS. 

The Government notes the Committee's concerns regarding parliamentary scrutiny due to the Act's 
delegation of specific legislative powers to regulations. Again, the Government refers to the 
parliamentary scrutiny of the Electricity Supply Act 1995, which restricted legislative provisions for 
additional Safeguard schemes to those already in place for the ESS. 

Thank you again for your considered review of the Regulation. 

Yours sincerely 

��

Matt Kean MP 

Treasurer 
Minister for Enp,!]Y t'J 

lV-�c ci '-
Enc1: Table, Response to Digest No. 40/57 
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